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to retract his instructions because he had misled the public. 
R. Asher demanded that R. Jacob be considered a “rebellious 
scholar” and banned from the Jewish community.

The community of Palencia suffered during the civil war 
between Pedro of Castile and Henry of Trastamara: accord-
ing to the testimony of R. Samuel Ẓarẓa in his Mekor Ḥayyim, 
Henry claimed a large sum from the community; in R. Sam-
uel’s words, “they were in great distress.” The community of 
Palencia was not spared during the persecutions of 1391 and it 
also had its *Conversos. Palencia and its surrounding region, 
however, witnessed the appearance of a popular prophet, who 
at the beginning of the 15t century called for repentance and 
announced the forthcoming redemption.

In 1480 the Jews and Conversos were separated into 
distinct quarters. A new quarter was allocated to them on 
Maria Gutiérrez Street (now Martín Calleja). After the 1492 
Expulsion the name of the street was changed to Santa Fé, and 
a fine was to be imposed on anyone who referred to the street 
as judería (*Jewish Quarter). In 1485 the Jews were ordered 
to wear a distinctive sign and Christians were forbidden to 
lodge in Jewish houses, although they could work for them 
by day. The Jews were called upon to contribute 501, 183 mara-
vedis toward the redemption of the prisoners of Malaga. It is 
known that during the Expulsion period – as early as May 
1492 – a decree was issued to sell the synagogue located on 
the present-day Street of San Marcos. The proceeds of this 
sale were given to poor Jews to assist their departure from 
Palencia. Another synagogue was converted into a hospital 
in November 1492. There is little information available on 
the Conversos of Palencia. The prophetic movement of the 
Maiden Inés was formed in 1500 in the region of Palencia, at 
*Herrera de Pisuerga. Most of the Jews of Palencia moved to 
Portugal in 1492.

According to a local tradition the first Jews settled near 
the church of San Julián, which no longer exists, but was on 
the right bank of the river Carrión. Until the 15t century 
the Jews lived in various parts of Palencia. The majority was 
concentrated in the area of Plaza de León, where the syna-
gogue was located between Manflorido and Regimiento Vil-
larrobedo streets. The judería vieja (the old Jewish quarter) 
in La Pellejería was in the area that is now between the streets 
San Marcos and Cardenal Almaraz. Nothing has remained of 
the medieval Jewish quarter. In 1480 the Jews had to be in an 
enclosed quarter, the judería nueva, situated in today’s Martín 
Calleja street. It was a narrow street. In 1492 it was renamed 
Santa Fe street. 
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[Haim Beinart / Yom Tov Assis (2nd ed.)]

PALE OF SETTLEMENT (Rus. Cherta [postoyannoy ye-
vreyskoy] osedlosti), territory within the borders of czarist 
Russia wherein the residence of Jews was legally authorized. 

Limits for the area in which Jewish settlement was permis-
sible in Russia came into being when Russia was confronted 
with the necessity of adjusting to a Jewish element within its 
borders, from which Jews had been excluded since the end 
of the 15t century. These limitations were consonant with 
the general conception of freedom of movement of persons 
which then applied. At the time, most of the inhabitants of 
Russia, not only the serfs but also townsmen and merchants, 
were deprived of freedom of movement and confined to their 
places of residence.

After the first partition of Poland in 1772, when masses 
of Jews living within the former country came under Russian 
rule, it was decided (1791) to permit the presence of the Jews 
not only in their former regions of residence, but also in the 
new areas which had then been annexed from Turkey on the 
Black Sea shore, in whose rapid colonization the Russian gov-
ernment was interested. On the other hand, Jewish merchants 
were prohibited from trading in the provinces of inner Russia. 
These decrees were intended to serve the national and eco-
nomic interests of the state by preventing competition of the 
Jewish with Russian merchants and encouraging settlement 
in the desolate steppes of southern Russia; after a time these 
formed the provinces of *Kherson, *Dnepropetrovsk (Yekat-
erinoslav), and Taurida (*Crimea). The Russian government 
also sought thus to reduce the excess of Jews in the branches of 
commerce and innkeeping within the territory annexed from 
Poland. In 1794 the earlier decree was ratified and applied to 
the regions which had been annexed with the second partition 
of Poland (1793) also – the provinces of *Minsk, *Volhynia, 
and *Podolia – as well as to the region to the east of the River 
Dnieper (the provinces of *Chernigov and *Poltava).

With the third partition of Poland (1795), the law was 
also applied to the provinces of *Vilna and *Grodno. In 1799 
*Courland was added to the Pale of Settlement. In the “Jew-
ish Statute” promulgated in 1804, the province of Astrakhan 
and the whole of the northern Caucasus were added to the 
regions open to Jews. In 1812, upon its annexation, *Bessara-
bia was also included. The “Kingdom of Poland,” incorporated 
into Russia in 1815, which included ten provinces that later 
became known as the “Vistula Region,” was not officially in-
cluded within the Pale of Settlement, and until 1868 the transit 
of Jews through it to the Lithuanian and Ukrainian provinces 
was prohibited by law. In practice, however, the provinces of 
the Vistula Region were generally included within the Pale 
of Settlement.

To sum up, it was the intention of the Russian legislators 
of the reigns of Catherine II and Alexander I to extend the 
Pale of Settlement beyond the regions acquired from Poland 
only to those areas where Jews could serve as a colonizing 
element. However, from the reign of Alexander II the restric-
tive aspects of the Pale of Settlement became accentuated, 
for while freedom of movement for non-Jews in Russia in-
creased, in particular after the emancipation of the serfs, the 
restrictions on the movement of Jews beyond the Pale re-
mained in force, and became explicitly underlined within 
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the Pale itself. This was accomplished both by anti-Jewish en-
actments on the part of the government and by the growing 
impatience of Jewish society and liberal public opinion with 
these disabilities.

Czar Nicholas I (under whom the term “Pale of Settle-
ment” was coined) removed Courland from the Pale in 1829; 
however, the rights of the Jews already settled and registered 
there were maintained. In 1835 the provinces of Astrakhan and 
the northern Caucasus were excluded from the Pale. In 1843 
Nicholas I ordered the expulsion of the Jews from a strip of 
50 versts (about 33 mi.) in width extending along the border 
with Prussia and Austria. Many difficulties were encountered 
in the application of this law, and in 1858 it was redrafted to 
apply only to those Jews who would wish to settle in the bor-

der zone after that year. A similar law which had applied to the 
provinces of Russian Poland (where the border zone closed to 
Jewish residence was 21 versts in width) was abrogated in 1862. 
In 1827 severe restrictions were imposed on the residence of 
Jews in Kiev, the largest town in southern Russia, that served 
as an important commercial center for the surrounding re-
gions which had a dense Jewish population.

Under Alexander II, rights of residence beyond the Pale 
began to be granted to various classes of the Jewish popula-
tion: in 1859 to merchants able to pay the registration fees 
of the First Guild; in 1861 to university graduates, as well as 
those engaged in medical professions (dentists, male and fe-
male nurses, midwives, etc., from 1879); and in 1865 to various 
craftsmen. The right of residence throughout Russia was also 
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granted to *Cantonists who had remained Jews and to their 
offspring (the so-called “Nicholas soldiers”). The Jews hoped 
that these regulations would prove to be the first steps toward 
the complete abolition of the Pale of Settlement. However, they 
were disappointed when these alleviations came to a complete 
halt after 1881, as part of the general reaction in Russia at this 
period. The “Temporary (*May) Laws” of 1881 prohibited any 
new settlement by Jews outside towns and townlets in the Pale 
of Settlement (this law did not apply to the Vistula Region). 
Jews who had been living in villages before the publication 
of the decree were authorized to reside in those same villages 
only. The peasants were granted the right of demanding the ex-
pulsion of the Jews who lived among them. These decrees were 
bound up with intensified administrative pressure, brutality 
by local authorities, and the systematic acceptance of bribery 
on the part of the lower administrative ranks. Occasionally, 
new places were excluded from the Pale of Settlement, such 
as *Rostov and *Taganrog (1887) and the spa town of *Yalta 
(1893). During the years 1891–92, thousands of Jewish crafts-
men and their families were expelled from *Moscow.

At the beginning of the 20t century political and eco-
nomic pressure on the Russian government intensified, and in 
various places alleviations in the “Temporary Laws” occurred. 
From 1903 some village settlements which had assumed an 
urban character were given the status of townlets, and the 
Jews were thus granted the legal right of living in them. Up to 
the outbreak of World War I some 300 settlements were thus 
opened for Jewish residence. In 1904 instructions were issued 
that all the Jews authorized to reside outside the Pale of Settle-
ment could also settle in the rural areas there.

In 1910 the Jewish members of the *Duma, N. *Friedman 
and L. *Nisselovich, with the support of the Constitutional-
Democratic Party, proposed a bill for the abolition of the Pale 
of Settlement. However, the balance of power in the Duma 
between the liberals and reactionaries made the proposal of 
demonstrative value only. The extreme Right retorted with a 
counter-motion “to expel the Jews from Russia”; the original 
motion was voted upon in February 1911 and transferred to 
the commission for personal freedom, where it fell into obliv-
ion and was no longer mentioned in plenary session of the 
Duma. In August 1915, when many thousands of expelled and 
refugee Jews from the battle zones streamed into the interior 
of Russia, the government was compelled to permit the resi-
dence of these refugees in the towns of inner Russia, with the 
exception of St. Petersburg and Moscow; thus the existence 
of the Pale of Settlement in practice was brought to an end. 
After the Revolution of February 1917 the provisional govern-
ment abolished the Pale of Settlement among the rest of the 
anti-Jewish restrictions.

The Pale covered an area of about 1 million sq. km. 
(386,100 sq. mi.) from the Baltic Sea to the Black Sea. Ac-
cording to the census of 1897, 4,899,300 Jews lived there, form-
ing 94 of the total Jewish population of Russia and c. 11.6 
of the general population of this area. The largest of the other 
nations living within the area of the Pale were the Ukrainian, 

Polish, Belorussian, Russian, Lithuanian, Moldavian (mostly 
in Bessarabia), and German. These (with the exception of 
the Germans) were essentially concentrated in their own ter-
ritorial regions, where they formed the majority of the pop-
ulation. The Jews were a minority in every province (from 
17.5 in the province of Grodno to 3.8 in the province of 
Taurida); 82 of the Jews lived in the towns and townlets of 
the Pale and their concentration in these was prominent: They 
formed 36.9 of the urban population, and in nine provinces 
they formed the majority of the urban population (province of 
Minsk – 58.8; Grodno – 57.7; Mogilev – 52.4; etc.). In the 
townlets and many small towns all the inhabitants or the over-
whelming majority were Jews. The 10 largest communities were 
*Warsaw (219,149 persons); *Odessa (138,915); *Lodz (98,677); 
*Vilna (64,000); *Kishinev (50,237); *Minsk (47,562); *Bialys-
tok (41,900); *Berdichev (41,617); Yekaterinoslav (*Dneprop-
etrovsk; 40,009); *Vitebsk (34,470), and *Kiev 31,800.

It was, however, not only the limitation of their residen-
tial area which oppressed the Jews. By force of historical cir-
cumstances they were also restricted in their occupations. 
They were concentrated in commerce (38.6 of the Jews 
gainfully occupied) and crafts (35.4); 72.8 of the total of 
persons engaged in commerce within the Pale of Settlement 
were Jews, as well as 31.4 of those engaged in crafts. Jewish 
artisans concentrated in certain branches of crafts (tailoring; 
shoemaking). Very few had the possibility of engaging in ag-
riculture. The competition among the merchants, shopkeep-
ers, and craftsmen was intense and gave rise to pauperization 
and the development of a Jewish proletariat which could not 
be integrated. This situation, together with the incessant anti-
Jewish decrees and the waves of pogroms, especially during 
the years 1881–84 and 1903–06, resulted in a constant stream 
of Jewish emigration from the Pale of Settlement to Western 
Europe and the United States. Even this great emigration was, 
however, insufficient to counterbalance the natural growth of 
the Jews in the Pale of Settlement.

The language spoken by the Jews in the Pale of Settle-
ment was Yiddish (according to the census of 1897 by 99 of 
the Jews). Most Jewish children received a Jewish education in 
the ḥeder and the yeshivah. Jewish literature and newspapers 
in Yiddish, Hebrew, Russian, and Polish circulated in many 
thousands of copies. The masses of ḥasidim were attached to 
the “courts” of their spiritual leaders in *Lubavich (Chabad), 
*Stolin, *Talnoye (Talna), *Gora Kalwaria (Gur), *Aleksand-
row, etc. More modern movements such as *Ḥibbat Zion and 
Zionism, the *Bund and the socialist parties were also active 
in the towns and townlets of the Pale, either openly or ille-
gally underground.

World War I, the disintegration of the Russian Empire, 
the Revolution, and the civil war in Russia, destroyed the foun-
dations of this Jewish world, which was finally annihilated in 
the Holocaust. With the perspective of time, assessment of 
the Pale of Settlement has changed; it is necessary to consider 
not only its negative aspects but also its positive, unintended 
results, as forming a framework for an independent Jewry, 
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as the area of settlement of a whole Jewish nation in which 
generations of Jews developed their own culture, and as the 
source of the establishment and development of large Jewish 
centers in America, South Africa, and many other countries, 
as well as Israel.
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[Yehuda Slutsky]

PALERMO, capital of Sicily. Jews apparently lived there in 
Roman times. Evidence of their presence is first supplied by 
Pope *Gregory I. His intervention in 598 with Bishop Victor 
of Palermo, who had requisitioned the synagogue and hospice, 
indicates that the community had by then attained some pros-
perity. The Jews could not resume possession of the buildings 
since they had been consecrated as churches, but they were 
indemnified and the religious objects restored to them. Dur-
ing the Muslim period the community was augmented by 
Jews who had been sold as slaves in Sicily and ransomed by 
their coreligionists. A description by the 10t-century Muslim 
geographer Ibn Hawkal mentions the location of the Jewish 
quarter in Palermo. Documents from the Genizah shed light 
on important events regarding Jewish life under Muslim rule. 
A rhymed letter written in Hebrew in the 10t or 11t centuries 
by a Jew of Palermo addressed to a Jewish leader (perhaps the 
head of the Diaspora in Babylon) gives a moving account of 
the suffering of the population during an episode of civil war 
among Muslim factions that led to Byzantine intervention. 
According to the author, the armies desecrated synagogues. 
Nevertheless, Sicilian Jews prospered during the Muslim pe-
riod. They donated money to the Palestine yeshivah, collected 
money to ransom prisoners, and conducted a lucrative trade 
between Sicily, North Africa, and Egypt. Like the other Jews 
in Sicily in this period, those of Palermo had to pay a poll tax 
(jizya) and an impost on real estate (khârāj), and in the sec-
ond half of the 11t century they had to pay a special tax on 
imported goods, the tenth (– ushr). A letter written on the 
eve of the conquest by the Normans, around 1060, describes 
the suffering of the people of Palermo. Other letters from this 
period provide information on the last Muslim ruler of Pal-
ermo, Muḥammad Ibn al-Babā al-Andalusī. The latter ap-
pointed Zakkār ben Amār as nagid over the Jews, and he was 
also in charge of supplying most of the provisions of the ruler. 
With the fall of Palermo (1072) the Jews came under the ju-
risdiction of the Normans, who continued collecting the jizya 
from them, in addition to the impost they paid to the local 
archbishop in 1089. However, the Jews were recognized as full 
citizens with the right to own property, excepting Christian 
slaves, and free to engage in a variety of crafts. A prominent 
number were fishermen and artisans, and Jews had virtually 

a monopoly of the silk and dyeing industry. The art of silk 
weaving was developed in Palermo by Jews brought there as 
prisoners from Greece by Roger II in 1147; they later settled 
throughout Italy, leading in this craft for four centuries. In 1211 
a tax was collected for the right to practice dyeing by the eccle-
siastical curia in Palermo. According to *Benjamin of Tudela, 
1,500 Jews (or Jewish families) were living in Palermo around 
1172. In 1312 Frederick II of Aragon revoked a former decree 
that expelled the Jews from the Cassaro situated in the city 
center and confined them to a special quarter outside the city 
walls. However, despite repeated attempts to segregate the Jews 
and relegate them to a separate quarter, the Jews continued 
to live until the expulsion in the Cassaro, where many Chris-
tians also lived. Before 1393 the Jews of Palermo had been al-
lowed to wear a distinguishing *badge much smaller than the 
size stipulated for the other Sicilian Jews. The Jews of Palermo 
had to attend missionary sermons. The incitement of fanatical 
preachers frequently resulted in bloodshed, as in a riot which 
occurred in Palermo in 1339. In 1393 the Palermo community 
petitioned King Martin I to prevent the inquisitors from per-
secuting foreign Jews who came to the city under the pretext 
of being Christians. It is probable that that petition attests to 
the arrival in Palermo of refugees from the Iberian Peninsula 
following the pogroms and forced conversions of 1391. Besides 
paying taxes levied by the royal administration, the Jews in 
Palermo sometimes had to contribute funds to rebut libels; in 
1437 they paid 150 gold ounces to defray the expenditure of 
the war against the Kingdom of Naples, and in 1475 they paid 
500 gold ounces to silence a false accusation. In 1450 Alfonso 
confirmed the appointment of Iacob Exarchi, papal commis-
sioner, to investigate matters concerning the Jews of Sicily. He 
was to look into the religious practices of the Jews, investigate 
the practice of usury, and ensure the separation of Jews from 
Christians. In the same year the Jewish communities, headed 
by the community of Palermo, paid 10,000 florins in return 
for a royal writ that approved their old privileges. In 1453, fol-
lowing complaints that the Jews of Palermo were forced to pay 
an unfair portion of the tax burden, the viceroy decreed that 
they were to pay only one-seventh of the tax burden rather 
than a quarter. The investigations initiated in 1473 by the in-
quisitor, the Dominican Salvo de Cassetta, hit the Palermo 
community particularly hard, accusing it of crimes against 
the Christian faith, The accusations concerned blasphemy 
against the Virgin, probably because the Jews were found to 
possess an anti-Christian polemic compilation, known as To-
ledot Yeshu. Several Jews were found guilty of that crime, and 
after having been tortured they confessed and were burned. 
On August 2, 1474, the Jewish community of Palermo paid a 
fine of 5,000 florins in return for a royal pardon that did not 
include Jews outside Palermo. However, in the same month 
Pope Sixtus ordered the archbishop of Palermo to assist Salvo 
de Cassetta in implementing his commission and proceeding 
against the Jews of Sicily. The investigations were probably at 
the root of the anti-Jewish riots that broke out in the summer 
of 1474 throughout Sicily.
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